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This report is commissioned by Holland+You. Holland+You is initiated by the Dutch economic network 
in the GCC to connect business needs in the region with Dutch solutions. It aims to create a platform for 
interaction between Dutch and Gulf business stakeholders online and offline. For more information please 
visit our website www.hollandplusyou.com or contact us at hollandplusyou@minbuza.nl.
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1 INTRODUCTION

The Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) comprises six countries: Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
(KSA) and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). These countries have experienced high economic growth in recent decades 
due largely to wealth generated from abundant hydrocarbon reserves. This growth has been accompanied by a globally 
unparalleled rise in urbanisation, infrastructure development and overall improvement in socio-economic conditions. The 
region’s population has grown six-fold since 1970, with migrant workers from Asian and other Middle East and North 
African countries key contributors.

Despite the intrinsic link between fossil fuels and GCC states socio-economic development, the region is highly vulnerable 
to the impacts of climate change, the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region being considered the most water-scarce 
in the world. If global temperatures continue to rise, the region will experience an above average increase in temperatures, 
decrease in precipitation and rising sea levels. These higher temperatures will increase the level of evapotranspiration 
while, simultaneously, the fall in precipitation will increase stress on water resources.

Global water consumption is doubling every 20 years, more than twice the rate of population growth. This is one of the 
world’s most pressing issues, both economically and socially, and is especially important in arid regions such as the GCC 
(IRENA GCC report, 2016).

The map above depicts 2013 per capita total global renewable water resources. The difficulties facing GCC member states 
in securing sustainable water supplies are likely to increase given the scarcity of natural water resources. Scarcity, 
combined with minimal precipitation, high evaporation rates, population growth and an increase in demand are just some 
of the reasons why the region’s water resources are decreasing. Water scarcity will challenge GDP and economic growth, 
sustainable development, food security and population growth in arid regions. The purpose of this report is to give insights 
into the GCC water market and to identify possible business opportunities for Dutch water technology companies across 
different economic segments and countries.

Exhibit 1: Total renewable water resources per capita, 2013
Source: WWAP, FAO AQUASTAT from the IWS GCC Water Market report 2015

GCC WATER MARKET OVERVIEW

The Gulf is one of the most arid regions, and yet it has amongst the highest per capita consumption of water in the world. 
The main challenges the GCC faces are a lack of renewable water sources coupled with an escalation of water demand in 
every sector stemming from  fast economic development. Water use in all sectors rose from 6 billion m3 in 1980 to around 
26 billion m3 in 2010, the agricultural sector being the greatest consumer.  

On the supply side, the main challenges are the high cost of desalination, decreasing the gap between water availability 
and demand, the fragmentation of institutions working on water management, physical leakage/non-revenue water, and 
limited recycling. On the demand side, the biggest challenges are high levels of consumption (with over 500 litres a day 
the GCC has, stated previously, amongst the highest per capita water consumption in the world), inefficient water use by 
the agricultural and industrial sectors caused by, for example,  inefficient irrigation systems and low public awareness of 
the importance of water efficiency. 

GCC countries have a huge deficit in their water resources of over 20 billion cubic meters, mainly caused by the intensive 
over-drafting of renewable and non-renewable groundwater resources for the agricultural sector. Extensive installation of 
highly expensive desalination plants for the municipal sector and reusing only a small percentage of treated wastewater in 
the agricultural and municipal sector has increased the deficit. 

Desalination has started to bridge the gap between supply and demand but groundwater is still the main source of supply 
in most GCC countries. Groundwater is being extracted at high rates whilst demand is rising by 10 percent per annum, this 
extraction rate is expected to continue in order to meet growing demand.
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Exhibit 2: Per capita share of renewable water resources in selected Arab region countries, 2011
Source: The United Nations World Water Development Report 2015 

Of the GCC countries Bahrain, Saudi, Qatar, the UAE and Kuwait are at the far right end of the chart, (see exhibit 2) of water 
scarcity, with levels at 1,000 m3 per capita per annum. The other GCC countries fall under the extreme water scarcity level 
of 500m3 per capita per annum. With fresh water lakes, salt water lakes, and rivers few and far between, surface water is in 
limited supply, although supplemented by wadies - seasonal streams or rivers with lengths varying from a few kilometres 
to hundreds of kilometres in length. Despite their seasonal character, wadies are a crucial water supply for domestic and 
irrigation purposes in Oman, Saudi Arabia and Yemen. Although groundwater is a renewable water resource, the natural 
renewal process is unable to replenish the depletion of the groundwater reservoirs in the GCC. The main groundwater 
basin in the GCC is the Umm er Radhuma-Dammam Aquifer System, shared by all the GCC countries as well as Yemen and 
Iraq. Saudi Arabia shares all other identified aquifer systems in the Arabian Peninsula, most of which are non-renewable. 
The massive depletion of groundwater has led to unprecedented hydrogeological changes, threatening natural recharge. 
The rapid depletion of the shared aquifer systems may prompt neighbouring countries to draft agreements on the use of 
shared groundwater resources – none currently exist. Information sharing within the GCC is complicated by the lack of a 
roadmap outlining groundwater levels and groundwater reservoir studies.

The situation is exasperated by climate change, with models predicting a 2 degree Celsius increase in temperature by 2040. 
The population of Arab countries, including GCC, is predicted to double to 634 million by 2050. This population growth 
surge is projected to widen the water supply-demand gap, currently estimated to rise to between 43 cubic kilometres and 
127 cubic kilometres by 2020-30.

Demand for water in the GCC countries has risen 140 percent since the mid-2000s. Increases in population and the ensuing 
rise in demand for food have led most GCC countries to formulate ambitious agricultural policies which aim to sustain 
social and economic development and achieve food self-sufficiency. As a result, the agricultural sector has become the 
region’s largest consumer of water, see exhibit 3.

Significant change in how water is allocated in the six member states is unlikely in the near future. However, the aggregate 
allocation for the agricultural sector in the GCC countries is expected to drop from an average of 63% in 1995 to 48% by 2025.

Exhibit 3: Breakdown of water consumption in GCC countries in percent
Source: AQUASTAT 2013, from Strategy & Achieving A Sustainable Water Sector in the GCC, 2014
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Exhibit 4: Water consumption and renewable water resources
Source: AQUASTAT 2013, from the IWS GCC Water Market report 2015

Exhibit 5: Percentage of desalinated water in total water consumption
Source: GWI 2013, from the IWS GCC Water Market report 2015

Excessive water consumption has led to a large discrepancy between the GCC water consumption per capita per annum 
(pcpa) and available renewable water resources, as shown in exhibit 4. The gap is approximately 724 m3 pcpa currently, 
a gap only closed by relying heavily on desalination, as shown in exhibit 5. The overall installed capacity in the region 
accounts for 60 percent of the world’s desalinated water capacity. Other sources include recycling and the reuse of 
wastewater.

Not only is desalination a high-energy intensive process, but it is expensive and unsustainable. Its use contributes to 
concerns about increasing consumption of fossil fuels, energy security and environmental degradation, see exhibit 6. Abu 
Dhabi (the largest Emirate of the UAE) spends nearly AED 12 billion per annum on desalination.
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Qatar has spent about $46,000 per Qatari citizen on desalinated water and power production over the last decade. KSA spent 
$17 billion building desalination plants up until 2008 and has recently spent an additional $4 billion on a single new plant for 
desalination and electricity generation. KSA plans to invest a further $50 billion in new and upgraded desalination plants 
over the next 15 years. In recognition of the cost, the UAE has begun to place emphasis on new desalination technologies 
that have low energy footprints and that use unconventional energy sources.

The GCC governments and private sector are compelled to explore more affordable and sustainable options to power 
desalination in the long-term. In this context, renewable options, and especially those using solar energy, are gaining 
increasing prominence. The GCC water market is still heavily subsidised despite some countries, such as the UAE, 
increasing tariffs. The tariffs are low in comparison to GDP per capita, meaning the gap between costs and revenues was up 
to 92 percent in 2014, as shown in exhibits 7 and 8.

Exhibit 6: Average US figures for water production
Source: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO),
United Nations World Water Assessment Programme (WWAP), UN-Water. March 2012

Exhibit 7: Costs of water production, transmission, distribution and revenues
Source: Strategy&, Achieving a Sustainable Water Sector in the GCC 2014, IWS GCC Water Market Report 2015

Exhibit 8: Water tariff compared to GDP per capita in 2012
Source: Strategy&, Achieving a Sustainable Water Sector in the GCC 2014, IWS GCC Water Market Report 2015

 The GCC struggles with high rates of unaccounted water, also called Non-Revenue Water (NRW), which comprises on 
average 22% of all water consumed, as shown in exhibit 9 (see next page). The third supply-side effort is directed towards 
minimising water loss. By repairing leaks in distribution networks, Bahrain, Oman, Qatar, and Saudi Arabia could reduce 
water consumption by between 10-20 percent. Kuwait and Dubai have already decreased water loss rates to 5 percent and 
11 percent, respectively, through such repairs.  There are further opportunities to minimise rates of unaccounted water 
using technical solutions, software, water meters and improvements in distribution networks..

Water Tariff Compared to GDP per Capita (2012) Costs Water Production, Transmission, Distribution, Revenues (%)
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Exhibit 9: Unaccounted for water rates
Source: Strategy&, Achieving a Sustainable Water Sector in the GCC, 2014, from the IWS GCC Water Market Report 2015

Water management, policy making and planning are split between a number of institutions in the GCC countries, see 
exhibit 10. Management and policy execution is subsequently regulated by other governmental bodies, see exhibit 11. This 
makes it difficult to integrate a region-wide policy mix with accompanying legal frameworks.
In summary, there are three major challenges in the water sector in the GCC counties. Firstly  the challenge of water 
scarcity which involves getting the right amount of water to the right place at the right time. This will require changing 
the system from a fixed schedule to a water on-demand system. The second challenge is the scarcity of organisational 
capacity – currently there is no well-organised water management structure. The third challenge is a lack of accountability 
for achieving sustainable outcomes. This requires a system responsive to variations in supply and demand and factoring 
in environmental issues.

Exhibit 10: Institutions involved in policy making and planning in the GCC energy sectors
Source: IRENA GCC market 2016
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Exhibit 11: Regulatory bodies in the GCC water & electricity sectors
Source: IRENA GCC market 2016

GCC COUNTRY-SPECIFIC WATER MARKET OVERVIEWS

3.1 United Arab Emirates (UAE)

Water scarcity has been a primary concern for the UAE since the nation’s establishment in 1974. Water demand in the UAE 
is projected to grow 30% by 2030 in a climate labelled hyper arid, with an annual average rainfall of less than 100mm, a 
groundwater recharge rate of less than 4% of the annual water used, and no reliable perennial surface water resources.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

The UAE is recognized as a responsible leader in the water sector, in the face of a rapidly growing population and economy, 
taking on the challenges of water conservation, management and security. The UAE has put sustainability at the heart of 
its growth strategy and is committed to advancing further industrial-scale, sustainable desalination technologies, capable 
of meeting the region’s future demand for fresh drinking water. Recognising the link between water, energy and food, the 
UAE is investing heavily in cutting-edge technologies to improve efficiency and reduce the environmental impact of the 
desalination process.
Masdar, the renewable energy company based in the UAE’s capital, has made a commitment to decrease the use of traditional 
energy sources for desalination and to power desalination using the region’s abundant renewable resources, such as solar and 
geothermal energy. Their aim is to improve water security, reduce the environmental impact of desalination and lower the 
cost of potable water.

KEY PROJECTS

Key driving factors for developments in the sector include the plans outlined in The Water Resources Management Strategy 
for the Emirate of Abu Dhabi 2014-2018. This plan identifies the organisations responsible for the different market segments 
as well as setting out targets for 2018 and 2030.
Launched by His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum, Vice President and Prime Minister of the UAE and 
Ruler of Dubai, the National Innovation Strategy focuses on building specialised national capabilities, encouraging private 
sector innovation, promoting UAE’s international, research-oriented partnerships, and pushing governmental work systems 
towards innovation, in seven major sectors, including water.

3
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INNOVATION & WATER SECURITY

Developed by The National Centre of Meteorology and Seismology, the UAE Research Programme for Rain Enhancement 
Science aims to expand global water security through a grant programme investing in research to identify sustainable 
methods of increasing rainfall in the UAE. The long-term goal of the programme is to implement renewable energy-powered 
desalination plants in the UAE and the MENA region.

Innovation & Water Management 
Abu Dhabi’s Strategic Tunnel Enhancement Programme (STEP) is one of the longest gravity-driven sewerage tunnels in the 
world. Not yet completed, STEP aims to be recognised as an efficient, cost-effective and sustainable solution to meet the long-
term wastewater collection and conveyance needs.

Innovation & Water Conservation
The UAE is making investments and policy interventions in energy efficiency. The country established mandatory green 
building codes in the Middle East, cutting water and energy consumption by over 33%, as well as introducing appliance 
efficiency standards.

The Abu Dhabi Food Control Authority has partnered with  the Environment Agency of Abu Dhabi to set up the Abu Dhabi 
Protected Agriculture Centre in order to promote the use of greenhouses and soilless agriculture, a technique that involves 
growing plants in hydroponic and soil alternatives. The process uses 90 percent less water to produce the same volume of 
crops. For an overview of Abu Dhabi’s Environment Vision and Water Management Plan see exhibits 12 and 13.

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

The Ministry of Energy is responsible for the country’s energy policy, together with the Abu Dhabi Water and Electricity 
Authority (ADWEA) in Abu Dhabi, and the Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA) and the Dubai Supreme Council of 
Energy in Dubai. The regulatory bodies are the same as above in both Abu Dhabi and Dubai with the addition of the Abu Dhabi 
and Dubai Regulatory and Supervision Bureau. The other Emirates (Ajman, Sharjah, Umm al Quwein, Ras Al Khaimah and 
Fujeirah) are all regulated under the Federal Electricity and Water Authority. 

Abu Dhabi Environment Agency (EAD), www.ead.ae, is committed to protecting and enhancing air quality, groundwater 
as well as the biodiversity of the desert and marine ecosystem.

Abu Dhabi Future Energy Company - Masdar, www.masdar.ae, is a government-owned entity tasked with spearheading 
Abu Dhabi’s drive to become a model of sustainability regionally and worldwide. It aims to do this by investing in clean 
energy and sustainable technology companies, developing and investing in large-scale renewable power projects, such as 
solar and wind farms, and through the development of Masdar City, a sustainable urban development.

Abu Dhabi Sewerage Service Company (ADSSC), www.adssc.ae, is responsible for the collection, treatment and disposal of 
wastewater discharged from residential, commercial and industrial buildings in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi, and the distribution 
of recycled water for irrigation purposes in gardens, parks, farms and green spaces.

Abu Dhabi Water and Electricity Authority (ADWEA), www.adwea.ae, researches and develops ways to produce, 
distribute and consume water and electricity more efficiently.

Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA), www.dewa.gov.ae, provides the population of Dubai with electricity and 
water.

Dubai Municipality Environment Department of the Dubai Municipality, www.dm.gov.ae, is responsible for developing 
and implementing legislation, policies and projects to protect and conserve the environment.

Dubai Supply Authority (DUSUP), www.dusup.ae, supplies the energy needs of a number of key utility and industrial 
companies in Dubai. It supplies natural gas to DEWA, Dubal, Dugas, ENOC and Dubai Petroleum for their power generation, 
desalination and other industrial needs.

Dubai World, www.dubaiworld.ae, is an investment company that manages and supervises a portfolio of businesses and 
projects for the Government of Dubai across a wide range of industry segments as well as projects that promote Dubai as a 
hub for trade and commerce.
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Ministry of Climate Change and Environment, www.moccae.gov.ae, manages all aspects related to international and 
domestic climate change affairs. It is responsible for addressing the issue of climate change, through the implementation of 
comprehensive policies and initiatives to mitigate and adapt to climate change and protect environmental systems. 

Regulation and Supervision Bureau (RSB), www.rsb.gov.ae, is an independent regulatory body for the water, wastewater 
and electricity sectors in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi.
Exhibit 14 lists other relevant entities. 

Exhibit 12: Abu Dhabi environmental priorities, outcomes and targets, Abu Dhabi Vision 2030
Source: The Water Resources Management Strategy for the Emirate of Abu Dhabi 2014-2018

Exhibit 13: Overview of Abu Dhabi’s water management plan
Source: The Water Resources Management Strategy for the Emirate of Abu Dhabi 2014-2018
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3.2   Saudi Arabia (KSA)

While Saudi has huge oil wealth, it has no natural rivers, waterfalls or lakes, half of its land being desert. It is the largest 
country in the GCC and on the Arabian Peninsula, located in a sub-tropical desert region with most areas experiencing an arid 
climate. The summer is hot and dry while the winter is dry and cool.

According to the most recent World Bank figures it has among the lowest yearly rainfall in the world. In the northern areas 
the annual rainfall varies between 100 and 200 mm, further to the south the annual rainfall can drop below 100mm. Saudi 
has access to six major aquifers with total groundwater reserves estimated at around 500km3. With its limited renewable 
water sources and running surface water and a population of around 29 million and need for fresh water, Saudi is the largest 
producer of desalinated water in the world. 

The lack of natural resources is not the only cause of water scarcity in Saudi. During the oil boom years following the rise of 
crude prices in 1973, Saudi tacked food demand by implementing a self-sufficiency policy. It cultivated crops such as wheat, 
grains and fruits while simultaneously meeting higher demand for meat and dairy by expanding its cultivation of green feed 
crops for cows and goats.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

Saudi’s 2025 National Water Strategy (NWS) sets out policies in three strategic areas:

1.  Water Resource Management
2.  Water Governance & Institutions
3.  Water Supply Services

The underlying goals of the strategy are to introduce technological and institutional innovations to improve water 
management; to enhance services and reduce costs; and to protect and conserve the environment in all sectors.  The targets 
of the NWS are to reduce total water withdrawals by 50 percent; to balance water allocation; and to ensure that the water 
supplied is predominantly from renewable sources, see exhibit 15.

Saudi anticipates meeting this 50 percent reduction target primarily by reducing levels of irrigation, which currently accounts 
for nearly half of total consumption, see exhibit 16.

Saudi also plans to limit growth of urban and industrial water usage. Despite its population growth of 2 percent per annum and 
per capita water consumption growing at 8 percent per annum, it is thought that more efficient production and distribution, 
as well as increased water recycling, will cover that growth.

Exhibit 14: Lead entities for water resources management in Abu Dhabi
Source: The Water Resources Management Strategy for the Emirate of Abu Dhabi 2014-2018



WATER SECTOR

13

Exhibit 15:  Goals for water use by 2025 in KSA
Source: KSA NWS 2025, from http://www.twovisionspermaculture.com/ksa-water-iii-national-water-strategy-2025

Exhibit 16: Agricultural Water Use Proposed Changes from 2012 to 2025
Source: KSA NWS 2025, from http://www.twovisionspermaculture.com/ksa-water-iii-national-water-strategy-2025

Total Water Withdrawals should be halved
Reach a more balanced water allocation pattern (a less water dependent economy)
Water supplied predominantly from renewable sources

Phase-out low value crops (Wheat, cereals, green fodder)
Support irrigation improvements for high value crops (fruits, vegetable, dates)
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KEY PROJECTS

The Saline Water Conversion Corporation announced plans in 2015 to use more energy-efficient technologies. It states “The 
new company projects the use of reverse osmosis technologies and thermal technologies in a 70:30 ratio. This means that the 
new reverse osmosis projects are larger and more numerous than the current and future plans on both coasts. The projects 
of Jeddah and Ras al-Khair are first in that regard.” By 2018, SWCC is seeking to reduce desalination plants’ fuel consumption 
by 10 percent.

Saudi is seeking to promote ‘combined cycle power plant’ technology in desalination plants, using it to produce electricity as 
well as desalinated water. The Ras al-Khair project, the largest combined-cycle power plant in the world, launched on 22 April 
2014, with an electricity generation capacity of approximately 2,400 MW, is the cornerstone of this plan. 

These desalination plants will increase energy consumption, which could lead to increased investments in energy-saving 
innovations, development of alternative energy sources and the promotion of a culture of energy conservation at all levels.

KEY CHALLENGES

-   Flash floods (positive effect of recharging of groundwater however a large part is lost through evaporation)
-   Meeting increasing demand and consumption 
-   Water losses / NRW / Smart networks  / rehabilitations 
-   Maximising treated sewage effluent reuse 
-   Expansion of the distribution network 
-   Expansion capacity of desalination plants
-   High costs of energy for desalination
-   Development of potable water storage reservoirs
-   Water efficiency improvement in terms of reduction and awareness
-   Environmental challenges
-   Water efficiency in agriculture for irrigation resulting in less water per crop

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

Electricity & Cogeneration Regulatory Authority (ECRA),www.ecra.gov.sa, regulates the electricity and water desalination 
industry in Saudi Arabia. It also develops and implements a regulatory framework, in accordance with government laws, 
regulations, policies and standards and international best practice in order to guarantee the provision of safe, reliable, 
reasonably priced and efficient electric power and desalinated water to consumers in Saudi Arabia.

King Abdul Aziz City for Science and Technology (KACST), www.kacst.edu.sa/en, is an independent scientific 
organisation involved in science and technology policy making, data collection, funding of external research, and services 
such as the patent office.

King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST), www.kaust.edu.sa, seeks to produce future leaders in 
science, technology and industry.

Ministry of Environment, Water and Agriculture (MOWE),www.mowe.gov.sa, is responsible for the regulation and 
implementation of all aspects of the country’s policies for the environmental, water and agricultural sectors.

Ministry of Water & Electricity (MOWE), www.mowe.gov.sa/NewMowe/ENIndex.aspx is responsible for all water and 
electricity related matters. The Minister of Water & Electricity chairs the boards of the: 
Saudi Electricity Company, www.se.com.sa/en, the electric utility company has a monopoly on the generation, transmission 
and distribution of electric power in Saudi through 45 power generation plants. Its major shareholders are the Ministry of 
Water & Electricity (74.3 per cent), Saudi Aramco (6.9 per cent) and public shares (18.8 per cent). 

National Water Company (NWC), www.nwc.com.sa/en, contracts out water distribution services for individual cities to the 
private sector under management contracts.

Saline Water Conversion Corporation (SWCC),www.swcc.gov.sa, is a Saudi government corporation responsible for 
desalinating sea water, in order to augment the supply of potable water to coastal and inland cities. SWCC is also the second 
largest electric power producer in Saudi.

Water Projects Saudi Arabia, www.waterpsa.com, aims to provide the best solution in water and waste water treatment 
services to satisfy customers and protect environment.
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3.3  Qatar

WATER RESOURCES

Desalinated seawater is the most important source of water for Qatar residents, accounting for about half of the water used. 
Groundwater supplies are also critical to Qatar’s water network. These supplies are recharged through meagre rainfall and 
water flows from neighbouring Saudi. The amount of groundwater being extracted is outpacing the amount flowing in. 

Recycled water, or treated sewage effluent, is the only water source that is in surplus. This water is primarily used in irrigation, 
but could play a more significant role, especially in industry.  Qatar treats and reuses 24 percent of total freshwater supplies, 
which is above average among the Gulf States. Presently, the country lacks the infrastructure to deliver recycled water to 
every potential user. 

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

In 2008 laws were introduced to reduce outdoor hose water usage. Current strategies to reduce usage include the formation of 
a Department for Conservation & Water Efficiency within the Qatar General Electricity and Water Corporation (KAHRAMAA). 
KAHRAMAA is charged with implementing the Qatar National Water and Electricity Conservation Campaign, with the aim of  
reducing water consumption by 35 percent between 2009 and 2016.

The government is currently working on a National Water Act to be tabled in 2016 along with a comprehensive national 
strategy for water use and regulation. Priorities are to fix the unusually high volume of water leakage across the network and 
promote water conservation.

Reducing water usage is a key component of Qatar’s National Development Strategy 2011-2016. The National Water Act will 
grow out of the strategy to replace the existing fragmented laws and rules, bringing together a comprehensive water policy. 

Qatar claims that its seawater desalination capacity positions the country in a state of ‘structurally-induced water abundance’. 
50 percent of water consumed is desalinated. Groundwater (36%) and recycled wastewater (14%) complement this supply. 
The Qatari government aims to end groundwater extraction entirely and use desalinated water to recharge its depleted 
groundwater reservoirs.  

The Qatari National Development Strategy report estimates that water consumption, which is already above the global 
average, will increase 5.4 percent annually for Qatari’s and 7 percent annually for non-Qatari residents to 2020. 

Qatar has already implemented several desalination plant projects and is planning more. The new planned desalination plants 
will use advanced reverse-osmosis technology which is less energy intensive than the existing multi-stage flash process. In 
2012, KAHRAMAA also began work on the Water Security Mega Reservoirs Project. The reservoir programme offers huge 
potential for private sector participation and will be important for Qatar’s long-term water plans across all sectors.

The main objective for Qatar’s 2016 water policy is to improve water security and to establish Doha’s profile as a knowledge 
base for how best to recycle and reuse produced water in a cost-efficient manner. This is especially important against the 
backdrop of low oil prices that have reduced government revenues. The use of treated sewage effluent (TSE) for non-potable 
water purposes is another growing area of interest. MEED estimates that Qatar currently reuses 193 million cubic metres of 
TSE a year. 

WATER SECURITY IN AGRICULTURE

Qatar plans to create cost-effective solar desalination plants to provide water for agriculture and reduce reliance on depleting 
groundwater sources. As outlined above, desalination plants already meet a large portion of the state’s growing water demand, 
and plans are underway to significantly expand these facilities, replacing the use of groundwater in agriculture. 

Agriculture places heavy demands on Qatar’s water system, using 36.2 percent of its total water resources in 2011. There 
is considerable scope for targeted farming and improved irrigation techniques to increase the water efficiency of domestic 
agricultural production. More than 43 per cent of water used for agriculture is used to irrigate fodder crops, of which  more than 
70 per cent is used for flood irrigation. This could be replaced by drip irrigation systems and other water-saving technologies. 
Changing crops to heat tolerant varieties and species that require less water will also assist in reducing irrigation demand and 
water wastage in the agricultural sector.
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KEY WATER DESALINATION PLANTS

Qatar’s key water desalination plants are located in 5 areas:                                              
1.   Al Jemail
2.   Ras Laffan                                                          
3.   Simismah South                                                         
4.   Ras abu Fontas                                               
5.   Mesaieed

The main objective for Qatar’s 2016 water policy is to improve water security and to establish Doha’s profile as a knowledge 
base for how best to recycle and reuse produced water in a cost-efficient manner. This is especially important against the 
backdrop of low oil prices that have reduced government revenues. The use of treated sewage effluent (TSE) for non-potable 
water purposes is another growing area of interest. MEED estimates that Qatar currently reuses 193 million cubic metres of 
TSE a year. 

KEY PROJECTS

The production of desalinated water has quadrupled over the last two decades, a trend that is expected to continue. Qatar’s 
current desalination plants are: Ras Abu Fontas B-1, Ras Abu Fontas A2, Ras Abu Fontas A3, Ras Laffan-A and Ras Laffan-B. A 
new water station will further increase capacity.

As stated previously, KAHRAMAA began work on the Water Security Mega Reservoirs Project in 2012. The mega reservoirs 
will allow Doha to store 7 days’ worth of potable water based on anticipated 2036 consumption rates. The project involves the 
construction of five mega-reservoir sites that will link the Ras Laffan desalination facility in Qatar’s north and the Ras Abu 
Fontas plant in the south. Construction will be carried out in two stages, and, on completion, is expected to result in a total 
water storage capacity of 14.384 billion litres. The reservoirs will be capable of storing 1,500 million g/d by 2016, 2,100 million 
g/d by 2026 and 3,500 million g/d by 2036.

Once the first phase has been completed, Qatar will have a total storage capacity of 2,554 million g/d, which according to 
KAHRAMAA’s water demand growth forecasts will be equivalent to 7 days’ supply.

TECHNIQUES USED IN WATER PROJECTS

MSF Used At RAF A2

Seawater is heated in a brine heater before passing into a vacuum evaporator where it boils into steam. This vapour is 
transferred through ‘heat exchanger’ tubes, which are cooled by the same water that is on its way to supply the brine heater. 
After moving through high atmospheric pressure to low pressure, the liquid is finally pumped along a 183km pipeline 
network to reservoirs from where it is distributed on demand. Although these systems are energy intensive, low fuel prices 
in Qatar have made MSF a viable and reliable method for desalination. 

Reverse Osmosis

RAF A3 will be the first installation in Qatar to use (on a large scale, at least) the reverse osmosis (RO) method, which is more 
energy efficient than MSF. This method uses sea water which can be processed and returned to the sea without the use of a 
gas powered turbine. This returned water has no impact on the temperature of the body of water into which it is re-injected. 

Previously, the Qatar Electricity and Water Company (QEWC) tested the RO desalination method at station in Dukhan, acquired 
in 2003. Here it converted 750 cu meters per day of high salinity water. RO offers a number of advantages over other methods, 
including being less energy intensive, more environmentally friendly and offering increased storage capability, although the 
high salinity of Gulf water will present a significant technical challenge. 
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Exhibit 17: Qatar water plans in numbers
Source: The Gulf Intelligence special report 2016, The Future of Qatar’s Water 
Security, Aligning Academia & Industry up to 2030 and Beyond

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

Qatar Electricity and Water company (QEWC), www.qewc.com, is the country’s national power generation and water 
desalination company.

Qatar Environment and Energy Research Institute (QEERI), www.qeeri.org.qa, is a national research institute, with the 
mandate to lead the National Energy and Water Security Grand Challenges, in line with Qatar’s National Vision 2030 strategy. 

Qatar Foundation, www.qf.org.qa, the Qatar Foundation for Education, Science and Community Development is a private, 
non-profit organisation that supports and operates programmes in three core mission areas: education; science and research; 
and community development.

Qatar General Electricity & Water Corporation (KAHRAMAA), www.km.com.qa, is Qatar’s energy distributor, 
KAHRAMAA is in the process of establishing 200MW of solar projects, with the goal of generating 2 percent of the country’s 
electricity from solar power by 2020.

Qatar Science & Technology Park (QSTP), www.qstp.org.qa, is the national agency charged with executing applied research 
and delivering commercialised technologies in four themed areas: Energy; Environment; Health Sciences; and Information 
and Communication Technologies. QSTP is located in Qatar Foundation’s Education City and has access to the resources of its 
cluster of leading research universities.

3.4  Oman

WATER RESOURCES

Oman has limited fresh water resources, with 2014 estimates putting total renewable water resources (excluding desalination) 
at 1,400 million m3 per annum. Since the 1970’s, desalination has played an important role in supplying the country’s potable 
water needs. In contrast to its neighbouring countries, Oman has favoured a 100 percent private sector ownership structure 
for its water and power plant (IWPP) programmes. Government policy is to move away from utilising groundwater reserves 
towards desalination. Desalination plants in Oman are smaller than those in neighbouring countries due to population 
distribution. Moreover, Oman has significant surface water resources, which means that water can be supplied from dams.

Oman is more self-sufficient in food production and has  better water access than its neighbours although  facing similar 
constraints to domestic food and water security, the availability of arable land being limited and water scarcity extreme. The 
country currently relies on international markets to meet up to 60 percent of its food needs. It is a middle-income country 
with the oil reserves on which it depends less extensive than its neighbours. Impressive efforts are being made to diversify 
the economy,  but it has limited time to complete its economic transition. 
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GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

Oman is considered a regional leader in the assessment and management of water resources. According to the Omani 
government’s submission to the UN for the International Decade for Action “Water for Life”, the country consumes 25 
percent more than the natural recharge of water resources currently available. Desalination has contributed significantly to 
meeting the shortfall.  

In 1988, a Royal Decree declared all water resources in the country a national resource, this still being the most important 
legislative action relating to water management in the Sultanate. Since May 2001, the Ministry of Regional Municipalities and 
Environment and Water Resources (MRMEWR) has been responsible for water resource assessment and irrigation. Oman has 
a broad-based water management scheme reliant  on improvements in data collection, detailed assessment of water resources 
and studies of water demand and spatial distribution.

The National Water Resource Management Master Plan focuses principally on domestic and industrial supplies with the 
objective of minimising the cost of municipal water supplies while maintaining traditional irrigated agriculture. Numerous 
water conservation initiatives have resulted from the plan. Principal among these are efforts to improve irrigation efficiency 
through subsidies, the extension of wastewater collection methods, the promotion of wastewater reuse, and the expansion 
of desalination capacity to provide potable water for municipalities. The level of public awareness of water scarcity in Oman 
is high.

KEY CHALLENGES

-   Meeting increasing demand and consumption 
-   Water losses / NRW/ Smart networks  / rehabilitations 
-   Maximising treated sewage effluent reuse
-   Improvement and expansion of the distribution network 
-   Expansion capacity of desalination plants and high energy costs for desalination
-   Water efficiency improvement 
-   Environmental challenges
-   Salinity/seawater intrusion/ treatment groundwater reservoirs / Brine disposal
-   Flood prevention and water storage

KEY PROJECTS

The significant scarcity of natural resources has led to major investments in water resource development and management. 
In June 2015, the Sultanate signed a contract with the Islamic Development Bank (IDB) to finance 86 percent of the cost of a 
water supply project from Wadi Dhaiqah to Muscat and Quriyat. At the same time, Haya Water, Oman’s wastewater company, 
signed two separate agreements with private companies to begin constructing a modern sewage network in the wilayats 
(provinces) of Baushar and A’Seeb. 

The Supreme Council of Planning (SCP), which has had a meeting with the Dutch government to discuss water governance, is 
in the process of developing a National Water Strategy and a complete restructuring of the Water Sector and its authorities. 
Future developments will most likely be similar to the restructuring process of the electricity sector. Potentially the 
management of water resources, potable water and wastewater will be unified in a new structure.

The government has long-term plans to expand the country’s water resources through further desalination plants and the 
development of wastewater treatment. However, population growth and urban expansion are likely to absorb quickly these 
new sources and create an environment in which supply continues to fall short of meeting demand. 

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

Authority for Electricity Regulation, Oman (AER), www.aer-oman.org, AER is the authority responsible for regulating 
the quality of service, customer bills and efficient operation of Oman’s electricity sector. 

Electricity Holding Company SAOC (EHC), www.ehcoman.com, holds government shares in nine companies engaged in 
the generation, transmission and distribution of electricity and related water services.
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Haya Water, www.haya.om, treats and recycles larger volumes of treated effluent to irrigate parks, public areas and leisure 
facilities across Muscat.

Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries (MoAF), www.maf.gov.om, is responsible for all matters relating to agriculture and 
fisheries.

Ministry of Environment and Climate Affairs, www.meca.work, is responsible for protecting the environment and 
conservation of natural resources.

Ministry of Regional Municipalities and Environment and Water Resources (MRMEWR), www.mrmwr.gov.om, is 
responsible for providing national health and social welfare for its citizens and for protecting land and water resources.

Nama Group - the holding company grouping state-owned electricity transmission, part of the EHC.

Oman Power and Water Procurement Company SAOC (OPWP), www.omanpwp.com, is the single buyer of power and 
water for all IPP/IWPP projects within Oman.

Oman Water Society (OWS), www.omanws.org.om/en, is a non-profit, non-governmental organisation (NGO) founded by 
professionals working in the government and private sector, who are involved in water management, water supply and water 
projects. The society’s aim is to create a platform for professionals with an interest in water to exchange ideas, research, 
discuss challenges, enhance their knowledge and learn about the latest technology in the field.

Oman Water Treatment Company SAOC (OWATCO), www.owatco.com, is engaged in the design, engineering and 
construction of water and wastewater treatment plants and trading of all related equipment..

Public Authority for Electricity & Water (PAEW), www.paew.gov.om, is the regulator for both water and electricity 
services in Oman. A further role is to encourage the private sector to invest in the construction, ownership, operation, 
maintenance and development of water and electricity projects.

Rural Areas Electricity Company SAOC (RAECO), www.reefiah.com, is a government entity structured as a closed 
Omani joint stock Company registered under the Commercial Companies Law. Its activities include electricity generation, 
transmission, distribution and supply and desalination.

Salalah Sanitary Drainage Services Company (SSDS), www.ssds.co.om, is responsible for building the network to support 
the assembly and transportation of Salalah’s sewage project.

Sultan Qaboos University (SQU), www.squ.edu.om/engineering/Research/Research-Groups/RASERG-group, established 
the Renewable & Sustainable Energies Research Group (RASERG) in April 2003. It is tasked to facilitate research, generate 
funding and build relationships between the university and national and international organisations in the field of renewable 
and sustainable energy.

Supreme Council for Planning (SCP), www.scp.gov.om, is responsible for developing strategies and policies to achieve 
sustainable development in the Sultanate of Oman.

In addition, local aflaj authorities play a role in water management. 
 

3.5  Kuwait

WATER RESOURCES

With no permanent rivers or lakes, groundwater is Kuwait’s only natural water resource. In a report published by the World 
Resources Institute in August 2015, Kuwait is listed as one of the nine highest-ranked countries facing an ‘extremely high 
water risk’ by 2040. The country has almost no internally renewable sources of groundwater. It relies on about 20 million m³ 
annually in lateral underflow from Saudi Arabia. 

Kuwait’s water consumption is among the highest in the world with per capita consumption averaging 447 litres per day. This 
is largely the result of heavily subsidised utility prices and minimal demand management efforts. The demand for water will 
grow as new cities and residential areas are built.
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The groundwater withdrawal rate is 255 million m³ per year, 12 times its annual groundwater inflow. Of total water withdrawn 
annually, 54 percent is used for agriculture, 44 percent for municipal purposes and 2 percent for industrial purposes. High 
rates of withdrawal are leading to increased salinity in the existing water supply. Desalination plants are the primary source 
of freshwater for drinking and domestic use in Kuwait, providing 92 percent of water for domestic and industrial needs 
and 60 percent of total water supply. There is no charge for the use of groundwater supply, leading to wasteful practices in 
agriculture and the misuse of high-quality water.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

With limited natural groundwater resources, increasing demand for water supply and unclear plans for water management, 
Kuwait is at high risk of experiencing a water crisis before 2025. The government has declared its commitment to working 
towards reducing per capita water consumption and investing in wastewater management and desalination projects. However, 
the necessary political consensus to bring about improvements is lacking. 

The Ministry of Electricity and Water expects capacity to expand to 1,132 million imperial gallons a day (MIGD) by 2030. In 
2015, the Ministry announced a 400 MIGD capacity-building programme with five desalination projects to be built over seven 
years, investment in wastewater projects and expansion of the distribution network. It also announced plans for potable 
water storage reservoirs with a capacity of 5,000 million imperial gallons. 

In 2015, the government decided to start a major capacity-building programme to meet the rising demand for water, rather 
than managing demand through water conservation from reduced wastage and over-consumption. Currently subsidies, 
which are expected to be reformed, though not in the short term, exacerbate high water demand and consumption in Kuwait. 

KEY CHALLENGES

-   Meeting increasing demand and consumption 
-   Water losses / NRW/ Smart networks  / rehabilitations 
-   Maximising treated sewage effluent reuse 
-   Expansion of the distribution network 
-   Expansion capacity of desalination plants
-   High energy costs for desalination
-   Technical drawbacks from RO technology
-   Development of potable water storage reservoirs
-   Water efficiency improvement 
-   Delay in major capacity projects due to objections from parliament 
-   Environmental challenges

KEY PROJECTS 

Kuwait operates seven desalination plants with a total maximum daily production capacity of 2.432 million m3. The country 
has immense solar power potential, estimated at 389 MW per day. The cost of construction of a major solar powered 
desalination plant in Kuwait is estimated to be approximately US$2.5 billion, with an expected payback period of eight to 
ten years. Investment in solar-powered desalination could reduce emissions in Kuwait by 0.36 million tonnes and save 0.963 
million barrels of oil annually, making it both cost-effective and an environmentally sustainable solution, able to contain the 
risks of volatile fuel prices and depleting hydrocarbon stores.

At US $3.4 billion, the majority of investment in water in Kuwait between 2005 and 2014 was in the construction of water 
treatment plants. Kuwait plans to increase its water resources by utilising 100 percent of its wastewater for agricultural 
irrigation, greenery landscaping and the development of forested areas. The Kuwaiti government is currently working on a 
project to build a wastewater system with an initial capacity of 500,000 m³ per day as well as the construction of wastewater 
transmission and sewage effluent networks.

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

Environment Protection Authority (EPA), www.epa.org.kw, is responsible for overseeing and regulating all matters 
concerning the environment in Kuwait. EPA manages a comprehensive database that includes digital maps with area specific 
data related to water, soil and air.

Ministry of Electricity and Water (MEW), www.mew.gov.kw, is responsible for  water and electricity services in Kuwait.
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Ministry of Public Works (MPW), www.mpw.gov.kw, is responsible for developing the country’s construction plans whilst 
adhering to environmental guidelines that also take into account Kuwait’s requirement to develop agriculture, livestock, and 
aquaculture.

Public Authority for Agricultural Affairs and Fish Resources (Soil and Water division), www.paaf.gov.kw, is responsible 
for managing  agricultural sector development and enhancing food security. The Soil and Water Division is responsible for the 
design and evaluation of farm irrigation systems, testing irrigation equipment, crop water requirement research, monitoring  
groundwater quality and quantity and water resources planning.

Kuwait Authority for Partnership Projects (KAPP), www.ptb.gov.kw, is responsible for the Public Private Partnership 
(PPP) programme to develop quality infrastructure and services for Kuwaiti citizens.

Kuwait Institute for Scientific Research (KISR), www.kisr.edu.kw, partners internationally to develop, deploy, and exploit 
best science, technology, knowledge, and innovation to serve public and private sector clients, for the benefit of Kuwait and 
others facing similar challenges and opportunities.

3.6  Bahrain

WATER RESOURCES

Bahrain had an abundance of fresh water through natural springs up until the 1950’s. After this period, demand for water 
grew rapidly as a result of population increases and the boom in construction. In the late 1970’s, there was a further significant 
growth in the rate of groundwater extraction due to higher rates of consumption and increased irrigation. 

Bahrain has the second highest water consumption per square cm of land in the world. The three key water sources in Bahrain 
are groundwater, desalinated water and treated wastewater. 

An estimated 54 percent of Bahrain’s water is sourced from groundwater resources with a further 35.6 percent from 
desalination and 9.7 percent from treated wastewater. Research by Mohammed Saleh Al Ansari on Bahrain’s water demand 
management found that while extraction of the Dammam Aquifer has gradually decreased as alternative sources are 
made available, water withdrawals from the Rus Umm Eradhuma Aquifer have significantly increased in recent years. The 
agriculture sector accounts for approximately 70 percent of water withdrawals in the Rus Umm Eradhuma Aquifer. 

Groundwater extraction is most commonly utilised to collect water in the Khober and Alat levels of the ground, once the 
upward flow has forced the water towards the surface. Natural recharges occur in these levels of the ground but water 
resource managers may also see seawater intrusion in these levels, especially in the aquitard levels between normal ground 
surface levels, such as the Neogene level, the Orange Marl, and the Sharks Tooth Shale levels. The most common locations 
for groundwater extraction are through A level, known as Alat, the B level, known as Khober, and the C level, known as Rus 
Umm Eradhuma.

The extraction of groundwater continued in the 1980’s and 1990’s and, as a result, groundwater levels began to fall. This 
caused intrusion of seawater into the aquifer, causing groundwater quality to deteriorate.                                                                                                                         

Desalination, though a non-conventional water resource supply management method, has grown in popularity as an 
alternative means of meeting Bahrain’s water needs. Bahrain began production of desalinated water in 1980 with 3.3 Mm3. 
Production rose to 132.3 Mm3 by 2009 and to 172.3 Mm3 by 2008. In 2011, production levels hit their near maximum at 245 
Mm3. Currently, there are five desalination plants that treat and cleanse water for drinking and other purposes. However, 
these plants have a limited total capacity for desalination of 266.4 Mm3 and are operating at near full capacity, necessitating 
additional plants to meet demand which continues to increase at a much faster rate than the capacity of the installed 
desalination plants, forcing Bahrain to continue extracting groundwater. 

The use of treated wastewater as a non-conventional water source is increasing. In 1988, capacity in Bahrain for treated 
sewage effluents (TSE) was 1.5 Mm3. By 2006, this figure had risen to 14.6 Mm3. It more than doubled to 33 Mm3 by 2006, 
and reached close to 41 Mm3 by 2011. Currently, Bahrain’s production capacity for reusable wastewater is 36.1 Mm3. These 
figures chart a dramatic increase from the slow and steady rise that occurred from 1988 until 2005 when production capacity 
began to increase. Not all treated wastewater can be used for agricultural, industrial or drinking water purposes. There are 
multiple factors that can leave it with a lower quality than necessary. The quality of some treated sewage effluents (TSE) 
deteriorates due to excessive loads from hydraulics and organic materials, reducing effluent quality and restricting its uses.
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WATER DEMAND

Bahrain’s population has nearly tripled since 1952. Water demand in 1952 was 116.68 Mm3 per year, whereas in 2011, water 
demand was calculated to be  more than 354.6 Mm3. The increase had 3 main causes: population growth; improved living 
standards; and the development of industry and commerce throughout the country. At present, municipal uses account for 
47.4 percent of demand, agriculture 44.5 percent and industrial and other commercial uses 8.1 percent.

The agricultural sector in Bahrain has declined in recent years due to the lack of water resources. Other factors that have 
affected agriculture include the quality and condition of the soil, lack of investment in agriculture by industry and other 
commercial giants, poor drainage from agricultural properties, urbanisation in areas previously reserved for agriculture, 
and a limited availability of skilled workers.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

In recognition of the technical, financial and environmental consequences of water wastage, the government formed the 
Water Resources Council (WRC) in 1982 in order to enhance the protection and development of water resources, as well as 
to increase community awareness of water wastage.  

KEY CHALLENGES

-   Population growth.
-   Low levels of renewable water resources.
-   Hyper arid climate.
-   Heavily dependent on non-renewable groundwater and desalination
-   Water in Bahrain is subsidised by the government, with consumers of domestic water supply services paying only a
    fraction of the cost.
-   Connection to the network and water consumption is also subsidised.
-   NRW/losses.
-   Water storage tanks play a vital role into providing water security in Bahrain during emergency situations to ensure 
    that there is continued supply. The total storage capacity currently is 293.5MIC which represents 2 days of emergency 
    storage supply.

WATER PROJECTS

The Ministry of Electricity and Water Authority drafted the Water & Electricity Master Plan to ensure Bahrain’s ability to 
meet demand for the resource over the long term. Black & Veatch, in a joint venture with SNC-Lavalin, created the Master 
Plan 2006-2020. The Master Plan includes leakage reduction programmes, water conservation measures, and strategies to deal 
with emergencies such as plant outages and transmission failures.

Exhibit 18: Map of the Kingdom of Bahrain and allocated desalination plants
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Exhibit 19: Desalination plants, capacity and technology, 2008

BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES IN THE GULF REGION WATER MARKET

4.1 Water Challenges in the Gulf Region

The Gulf region suffers from a severe shortage of natural and renewable water resources. The limited available ground water 
resources are severely under pressure, both from a quantity and quality perspective. Seawater desalination is rapidly gaining 
field, with high costs and severe environmental impact. As the population in the area is predicted to grow rapidly as well, the 
matter is most urgent. The main challenges facing the region are:

1.  To raise awareness of the need to decrease the average water consumption. Water is heavily subsidised; therefore, 
      the perceived value is low; 
2.  To reduce drastically the volume of unaccounted for water; 
3.  To maximise the reuse of waste water; and
4. To introduce more sustainable desalination systems, using renewable energy and reducing salinity resulting from
     depletion of groundwater reservoirs.

Although strong centralised municipal utility services are generally responsible for water distribution, both consumer and 
industry have fairly easy access to alternative water supplies (e.g. from water trucks). This means that attempting to influence 
water consumption by restricting supply will be largely ineffective: the customer will simply go elsewhere.
Despite the region’s current prosperity, at government level there is an acute awareness that investment in desalination only 
is not the right answer, but that current energy supplies are not limitless.

4.2 Opportunities for Dutch Water Technology

The 2015 United Nations World Water Development Report suggests that massive investments in the water industry 
are needed to close the gap between supply and demand, stating that Arab countries need to invest $200 billion in water 
infrastructure over the next 10 years.

4
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The focus to date having been on seawater desalination, the involvement of Dutch water technology in the region has been 
limited, not an area where the Netherlands has recognized expertise. However, other methods where Dutch technology and 
expertise can offer solutions to the main challenges are now, and increasingly, being sought. These include:

1. The introduction of water efficient appliances and water saving policies which has been successful in the Netherlands    
    thanks to the implementation of an approval scheme for these appliances (Kiwa) and raising consumer awareness 
    regarding installation and use.
2. Water distribution management which has been perfected in the Netherlands to the point that there is virtually no  
    leakage and very little unaccounted for water. Dutch consulting engineers, often in co-operation with Dutch utilities, 
    apply this experience around the globe.
3. Re-use of effluent which is not limited to water re-use: Dutch technology uses waste water as a valuable resource for     
     energy, nutrients, minerals and fresh water (inter alia Nijhuis Water Technology, Paques).
4. The Netherlands is one of the world’s largest exporters of agricultural and food products, thanks to its innovative 
    agrofood technology. Efficient use of water, energy and nutrients is key to that position (eg.WUR).
5. Dutch institutes (TU Delft, Wetsus, UNESCO-IHE, University of Twente) have done ground breaking work in the field 
    of (bio)fouling of membranes. Key researchers from these institutes are now working for King Abdullah University for 
    Science and Technology (KAUST). 

4.3 The Water Market in the Gulf Region

Though there are opportunities for Dutch technology and expertise to be applied, common challenges are:
1.  Tenders are primarily CAPEX (investment cost) driven, the long term cost of ownership, quality and sustainability not   
     of ten being the primary drivers. There is therefore less opportunity to show the benefits and added value of Dutch 
     technology;
2. Large municipal projects are usually won by international EPC contractors and system integrators (e.g. two out of three
    Qatar waste water treatment plants were won by Belgian EPC’s); 
3. The lack of regulation of product quality, opening the market for cheap solutions when it comes to residential and
    industrial systems. These are generally sold direct, rather than through tender processes. Multinational companies 
    in general  uphold their international quality standards. 

4.4 Short-Term Actions to Maximise Dutch Business Potential 

Based on interviews with government agencies, engineering consultants, equipment manufacturers and local agents of 
Dutch water technology companies, we see the following actions as key to success in the Gulf region:

1. To get involved in the development of water strategies being drafted in different GCC countries. In the UAE, the Water
     Strategy Plan is being developed by the Ministry of Energy and in Oman the National Water Strategy by the Supreme
     Council of Planning. The initial focus is on technological innovation, however there is interest in demand control and
     approval schemes.
2. To monitor large-scale municipal projects and connect with the main international EPC’s winning these tenders. 
    This seems to be the fastest way to get Dutch equipment installed in the region. Alternatively, Dutch parties could
     create a Dutch consortium and pitch for tenders.
3. To identify (multinational) companies and developers that maintain high quality standards and focus on introducing
     Dutch solutions. Examples: Mars Foods, Coca Cola, Pepsi Cola. 
4. To identify small-scale projects (such as greenhouses, real estate development, smaller communities) and present 
     small-scale innovative solutions.

Water management has always been a challenging topic in the GCC, but with regional population and economic growth, the 
sustainability challenge is growing more severe. Addressing water sustainability requires a well thought-out combination of 
resources, planning, and the development of an integrated approach.

4.5 The Netherlands Water Partnership and Topsector Water

The Netherlands Water Partnership supports the export of Dutch water sector expertise and products and facilitates 
international cooperation. The partnership is a collaboration between 200 organisations, commercial businesses as well as 
non-profit organisations, to develop further Dutch water sector interests internationally.

The Topsector Water is an alliance between the Dutch government, the private sector, universities and research centres. Its 
aim is to facilitate market introduction for innovative products and services as well as doubling the value of the Dutch water 
sector in the period leading up to 2020.
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SUPPORT FROM THE DUTCH GOVERNMENT

The Dutch economic government network in the GCC countries offers numerous services that can help Dutch companies 
establish their business in the Gulf. The services are centered around providing market insights, identifying potential 
business partners as well as advice on establishing a business in the GCC. To strengthen this support, the network started in 
2015 Holland+You. Holland+You is initiated to further strengthen business relationships between the Netherlands and the 
GCC countries. It aims to generate more interaction between Dutch and Gulf stakeholders, to connect business needs in the 
GCC with Dutch solutions and to create an online regional platform and business events. For more information please visit 
the website www.hollandplusyou.com.

 
TRADE REQUESTS

A trade request can be made to an affiliated Embassy and often includes questions about exporting to and investing in 
any of the GCC countries as well as requesting further information on potential business opportunities. The Embassies in 
Abu Dhabi (UAE), Riyadh (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia), Doha (Qatar), Muscat (Oman), Kuwait City (Kuwait) and the Consulate 
General in Dubai (UAE) are more than happy to assist you.

 
BUSINESS PARTNER SCAN

A business partner scan sources reputable potential business contacts in your specified target market. These business 
partners can include agents or distributors as well as manufacturing partners. For more information on the business partner 
scan and other useful services, please visit the Netherlands Enterprise Agency (RVO) website, www.rvo.nl.

 
COMPANY VERIFICATION

The Dutch Economic Network will verify that the company of interest is correctly registered with the corresponding local 
authority. Only requests from companies based in The Netherlands will be processed.

 
TRADE MISSIONS & DELEGATIONS

The Netherlands regularly organizes trade missions, delegations and joint submissions for exhibitions for and in the Gulf 
region. The GCC has several trade fairs that may be of great interest. The Dutch Economic Network supports presentations 
at international exhibitions and is able to provide current insights into local industry sectors as well as the region as a whole. 
The Network is able to advise on participation as well as identify local partners. For further information on trade missions 
and delegations please refer to the trade mission agenda on the RVO website.

 
TRADE DISPUTES

The Dutch Economic Network can provide a list of law firms that can support your business during a trade dispute. Common 
trade disputes include different interpretations of contracts and agreements as well as liability disputes arising from breach 
of local regulations and requirements.

 
ORANGE CARPET VISA PROCEDURE

This service aims to facilitate business opportunities and promote trade and investment between the GCC countries and the 
Netherlands. As such, the service processes visa applications for employees who travel frequently from GCC countries to 
the Netherlands in a timely and efficient manner. Dutch businesses that have an exclusive partnership with a GCC company 
or a business with an office in both a GCC country and the Netherlands, can register for the Orange Carpet Visa procedure.

To apply for an Orange Carpet visa, please contact the relevant GCC country Dutch Economic Network representative.

 
OTHER SERVICES

• Access to business contacts through the Dutch Economic Network
• Advice on law firms, legal representation and certified accountants
• Holland+You promotion

5
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EVENTS AND EXHIBITIONS

Various exhibitions take place on the subject of water and related industries in the GCC. The majority of events are held in the 
UAE, with a couple also being held in other GCC countries. The main events are:

-   Water, Energy, Technology and Environment Exhibition (WETEX), www.wetex.ae, Dubai, UAE
-   International Water Summit (IWS), www.internationalwatersummit.com, Abu Dhabi, UAE
-   Arab Water Week, www.arabwaterweek.com, Dead Sea, Jordan
-   Water Meets Money, Abu Dhabi Forum, www.watermeetsmoney.com, Abu Dhabi, UAE
-   MENA Water Conference, www.menawaterconference.com, Abu Dhabi, UAE
-   Gulf Water Conference, www.gulfwaterconference.com, Manama, Bahrain
-   Middle East Oil field Produced Water Management, www.neft-em.com, Muscat, Oman
-   Oman Energy & Water, www.energyandwateroman.com, Muscat, Oman

Visit our website www.hollandplusyou.com and follow us on social media for more information, news and event updates. 

6

SUPPORT TOOLS

The Dutch Economic Network liaises with Ministries and other organizations in the Netherlands. The Netherlands Enterprise 
Agency (RVO) for example, has several tools to support Dutch starts-ups and/or established businesses with international 
ambitions. Please visit www.rvo.nl for further information.

DISCLAIMER: The designations employed and the presentation of materials featured herein are provided on an “as is” basis, for in-formational purposes only, without 
any conditions, warranties or undertakings, either express or implied, from the embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands Abu Dhabi, its officials and agents, 
including but not limited to warranties of accuracy, completeness and fitness for a particular purpose or use of such content. The information contained herein does 
not necessarily represent the views of the individuals of the embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands Abu Dhabi nor is it an endorsement of any project, product 
or service provider. The designations employed and the presen-tation of material herein do not imply the expression of any opinion on the part of the Embassy of the 
Kingdom of the Netherlands Abu Dhabi concerning the legal status of any region, country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation 
of frontiers or boundaries.
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Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Abu Dhabi
Centro Capital Centre, Building 11,
14th floor
Al Khaleej Al Arabi Street (ADNEC area)
T: (+971) 2 695 8000
E: abu@minbuza.nl
W: uae.nlembassy.org 

A: Holland+You
Centro Capital Centre, Building 11, 
14th floor
Al Khaleej Al Arabi Street (ADNEC area) 
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
E: hollandplusyou@minbuza.nl
W:www.hollandplusyou.com

Dubai, United Arab Emirates

A: Consulate General of the Kingdom
of the Netherlands in Dubai
Al Habtoor Business Tower, 31st floor
Dubai Marina
T: (+971) 4 4407600
E: dba@minbuza.nl
W: uae.nlembassy.org

A: NFIA Dubai
Consulate General of the Kingdom
of the Netherlands in Dubai
Al Habtoor Business Tower, 31st floor
Dubai Marina
T: (+971) 4 4407600
E: info@nfia-gulfregion.com
W: www.nfia-gulfregion.com

Saudi Arabia (KSA)

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Riyadh
Abdullah Hizaf Asehmi Street
(Diplomatic Quarter)
11693 Riyadh
T: (+966) 11 4880011
E: riy@minbuza.nl
W: saudiarabia.nlembassy.org

Kuwait

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Kuwait
Block 6, Street 11, House 7,
Jabriya
T: (+965) 2531 2650
E: kwe@minbuza.nl
W: kuwait.nlembassy.org

Oman

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Muscat
Way 3017, Villa 1366. 
Shatti Al Qurum
T: (+968) 24603706 / 719
E: mus@minbuza.nl
W: oman.nlembassy.org

 
Qatar

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Doha
Al Mirqab Tower, 6th floor 
Al Dafna 
T: (+974) 4495 4700
E: doh@minbuza.nl
W: qatar.nlembassy.org

Produced by The Attention Company, 
www.theattentioncompany.com
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